
~  ~ 
 

1 

REGULAR SESSION MINUTES 
OCTOBER 8, 2024 

BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS 
AND THE TRAFFIC AUTHORITY  

NEW HAVEN, CONNECTICUT 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND CONFERENCE CALL VIA ZOOM 

 
 PRESENT: Commissioners Darrell Brooks; Michael Lawlor (in person); Tracey  

Meares (in person); Isaias Miranda; Evelise Ribeiro (in person); and  
Donald Walker 

 
Chief Karl Jacobson (in person):  Department of Police Service 
Assistant Chief Manmeet Bhagtana (in person):  Department of Police Service 
Assistant Chief Bertram Ettienne (in person):  Department of Police Service 
Lieutenant Jessie Agosto:  Department of Police Service 
Sergeant Yelena Borisova:  Department of Police Service 
Sergeant Paul Finch:  Department of Police Service  
Detective Vincent DeLeo:  Department of Police Service  
Officer Brandon Cain:  Department of Police Service 
Officer D. Cohen:  Department of Police Service 
Officer Reginald McGlotten:  Department of Police Service  
Officer Maurice Randall:  Department of Police Service  
Officer Karl Rindfleisch:  Department of Police Service  
Officer Jeffrey Rivellini:  Department of Police Service 
Asia Johnson-Clark:  Administrative Assistant 
 
Michelle Duprey, Esquire:  Deputy Corporation Counsel 
Bruce Fischer:  Traffic and Parking  

 
Gerald Antunes:  Alder 
Gary Hogan  
Daniel Hunt 
Kelvin Mitchell Jr. 
Miguel Pittman Sr. 
Luzciri Plata-Sanchez 
Lance Reinhardt  
Shelian Velazquez 
Red 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE TRAFFIC AUTHORITY  

The Traffic Authority meeting was called to order at 6:03 p.m. by Commissioner Evelise 
Ribeiro, Chair. 
*Commissioner Ribeiro stated that the following commissioners were present:  Commissioner 
Ribeiro, Commissioner Lawlor, Commissioner Meares, Commissioner Miranda, Commissioner 
Brooks and Commissioner Walker. 
*Following the regular meeting of the Traffic Authority, Mr. Fischer excused himself at  



~  ~ 
 

2 

6:22 p.m. 

 
OPEN SESSION 
The Regular Session meeting of the Board of Police Commissioners was called to order at 6:22 
p.m., Evelise Ribeiro, Chair, presiding.   
 
AGENDA 
 
** Commissioner Lawlor moved to Approve the Agenda 
** Commissioner Walker seconded the motion  
** Motion passed unanimously  
 
DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 
Discussion and approval of the Regular Session Minutes of September 10, 2024 
Discussion and approval of the Special Session Minutes of September 24, 2024 
 
** Commissioner Lawlor motioned to Approve the Regular Meeting Minutes of September  

10, 2024 
** Commissioner Brooks seconded 
 
 Commissioner Ribeiro made corrections on pages 10 and 11. 
 
** Motion passed unanimously  

 
** Commissioner Miranda motioned to Approve the Special Meeting Minutes of  

September 24, 2024 
** Commissioner Brooks seconded 
 
 Commissioner Ribeiro made a correction on page 1. 
 
** Motion passed unanimously 
 
CHIEF’S REPORT 
Chief Karl Jacobson 
 
 Chief Jacobson thanked the commissioners for being present.   
 Chief Jacobson indicated he would begin his report by responding to Commissioner 
Walker’s question for the past two years.  Commissioner Walker had been asking about the  
Collective Bargaining Agreement in the works for two years.   
 The union presented the tentative Collective Bargaining Agreement today.  The plan is for 
the union members to vote on it on Friday, September 11, 2024.   
 They have been hearing a lot of positive things about this contract.  It includes major pay 
raises of 25 percent over the contract’s six-year period.  It includes a 5/3-5/3 schedule which the 
chiefs pushed because they think the officers’ mental health is number one.  The contract also 
includes things that prohibit newer people from being ordered as much.  For example, if an 



~  ~ 
 

3 

officer comes in on a day off or a vacation day, to pick up overtime shift, the officers will not 
be ordered which is great.  They will fill shifts.   
 Right now, a lot of the newer people won’t come in at all on their days off because they are 
afraid of having to do 16.   
 There is a drop plan which Chief Jacobson hopes will keep some of the command staff at the 
Department longer.    
 He thinks it’s a good contract.  
 Commissioner Meares asked what a “drop plan” meant. 
 Chief Jacobson explained that a drop plan is a retirement set-up whereby an officer can retire 
but remain in the Department.  The retirement money will remain with city.  The interest made 
on that will go back to the city.  When the officer eventually leaves the Department, the officer 
will be paid back that retirement money as well.  Technically, the officer is retired. 
 Chief Jacobson stated that they have seen a lot of people leave here and, you know, work 
somewhere else, albeit that an officer will not collect the pension until the end.   
 He appreciated Mayor Elicker and union president coming to terms regarding the drop-plan.  
It does not cost the city anything.  The Department gets to retain the knowledge and 
experiences of these officers.  They are looking forward to that.  It may even keep him around 
for a little bit longer. 
 Commissioner Brooks asked how long the window would be from the time the officer retires 
and when that same officer actually separates from the Department. 
 Chief Jacobson responded by saying that an officer could reset it every year for up to five 
years.  Thirty days before the year is up, officers in this position have to inform the city of their 
intent to separate from the Department or not..  Officers with this status have to leave the 
Department after the fifth year.  
 The Department is also looking at a contract with Axon to install body-worn cameras and 
dashboard cameras through the year 2030.  They got a great price.   
 The Department is also looking at Draft 1 which is an AI-generated reporting system which 
would help officers start and put in the conversations that come off the body-worn camera 
footages.  They will run that through a test phase coming up soon to see if actually works and if 
it’s good.   
 The pilot program would comprise of groups of officers that are a little weaker with reports, 
a little stronger with reports and in the middle and see how that affects all the officers.  It’s not 
something the Department has committed fully to yet.  However, the Department would be one 
of the first departments in the state to at least try it.  
 Community CompStat is scheduled on Thursday, October 10, 2024 at 11:30 a.m.  CompStat 
had restarted last month.  The second CompStat meeting at the end of the month will be at the 
Department’s headquarters on the 4th floor.  Every month, the CompStat community meetings 
will be held at different locations in the community. 
 Chief Jacobson reported that the Department had received the mental health grant from the 
Department of Justice in the amount of $200,000.  They are looking into ways to use the funds.   
It’s for officers’ mental health wellness.  They will come up with some ideas regarding this 
issue.   
 In addition, the Department received a cops’ grant for equipment and overtime in the amount 
of $200,000 as well.  The Department is looking to purchase new equipment.  In the past, the 
Department had purchased equipment such as car chase Stop Sticks with these types of grants. 
 The Department did have a partner-wide Stop Stick training which was very successful. 



~  ~ 
 

4 

 In addition, there were Dodge Durango familiarization training in light of the fact that 15 
new Dodge Durangos would be added to the Department’s fleet of cruisers.  Dodge is no longer 
making cruisers.  The Department would probably transition to Dodge Durangos in the coming 
years  
 The Department would have its first EV vehicle next month.  It is specifically a Chevy 
Blazer which would be used in full use by the Traffic Division.  
 Commissioner Meares asked how many miles a charge would be. 
 Assistant Chief Bhagtana responded by saying it is a good question.  She will find out. 
 Chief Jacobson stated that he believed the EV, when fully charged, would remain for about 
six to seven hours.  Just under the shift work period. 
  Commissioner Meares asked if this was done by time and not mile. 
 Chief Jacobson responded by stating that the Department would do it by time because the 
vehicle could be idling with computers and lights on.  The big problem is the police vehicles 
draw a lot of power.  
 Commissioner Meares spoke about the need for high-capacity charging.  This is the 
advantage of having hybrid vehicles where one could go either way. 
 Commissioner Ribeiro asked how long it would take to fully charge. 
 Commissioner Meares indicated it should take less than 90 minutes. 
 Assistant Chief Bhagtana responded by saying that in some places if the car needs charging, 
the individual could do a 10-minute power charge.  This is what the Department has. 
 Chief Jacobson further reported that at the request of Commissioner Meares he had some 
closure rates for homicides and non-fatal shootings.  These statistics are just “clearances” by 
arrests, not other factors.  In 2021, there were 26 murders.  The Department’s clearance rate 
was 31 percent arrest.  There were 100 non-fatal shootings and the clearance rate was only 14 
percent. 
  In 2022, there were 17 homicides.  The Department’s clearance rate was 35 percent.  There 
were 109 non-fatal shooting and the Department’s clearance rate was 38 percent.  
  In 2023, there were 23 homicides.  The Department’s clearance rate was 44 percent.  The 
non-fatal shootings clearance rate was 23 percent. 
 To date, this year, there have been four arrests for four homicides out of the eight homicides. 
The clearance rate to date is 50 percent.  However, there are two arrests warrants in the 
pipeline.  So the Department’s clearance rate could be as high as 75 percent. 
 Commissioner Meares asked if he clearance rates are being computed based on arrests only, 
was it being done calendar to calendar. 
 Chief Jacobson responded by saying yes.  The Department is computing this calendar to 
calendar.  They will take another look at it because some of them are cleared due to other 
reasons as well.  They computed these statistics just with straight arrests. 
 Chief Jacobson added that these statistics indicate that the Department’s clearance rates have 
been increasing like they thought and hoped they would.  This is encouraging. 
 There was a homicide on Friday night, October 4, 2024.  Investigation is ongoing.  There has 
not been an arrest yet.  They are working with the State’s Attorney Office to see what the 
charge would be, either self-defense or involuntary manslaughter.  
 Commissioner Ribeiro asked, when Chief Jacobson spoke about clearance rate being 
computed calendar to calendar, does that mean they are looking at it around the same time of 
year or if the arrest is made next calendar year. 
 Chief Jacobson responded by saying that he was sure some of the arrests were made in 2023. 



~  ~ 
 

5 

 Commissioner Lawlor stated that Chief Jacobson had indicated that they were looking at a 
contract to buy cameras.  He asked if it was the equipment or the storage. 
 Chief Jacobson indicated that the contract would encompass the whole package.  So the 
Department is just reupping its contract.  They currently have a contract with Axon which 
includes the storage and equipment.  So the new contract would reup the equipment.  So every 
time when there is an upgrade to do with Tasers, the Department gets the newer version, for 
example, going from Taser 8 to Taser 10 in this instance.  They are including in the contract the 
possibility of using Draft 1, the AI-generated reports. 
 Commissioner Lawlor asked if the vote by the union membership the coming Friday was to 
approve the new Collective Bargaining Agreement.  Chief Jacobson replied with a yes. 
 Commissioner Lawlor indicated that he just wanted to say, and he was sure he was speaking 
for everyone, how thankful they are of the leadership that Chief Jacobson and his team have 
been able to exercise during this very challenging period.  You are getting pushed on both 
sides, the political side and the union side.  He knows how difficult it was.  Chief Jacobson had 
mentioned to him earlier that once this contract is approved, it will the first day since he’s been 
chief where he actually has a contract with the officers.  He joked, no excuses going forward. 
 Chief Jacobson indicated that the Department had been contacted by two or three people who 
had left and were thinking of coming back.  That’s how much of an impact this new contract 
could have on the Department’s ability to recruit. 
 Chief Jacobson further stated that Sergeant Finch is very happy in that recruit would 
continue.  The new hires should be very happy to be getting 20,000-dollar raise before they step 
in the doors.  
 Commissioner Lawlor indicated that the final thing he wanted to say through the courtesy of 
Chief Bhagtana was that he was able to do a ride-along with the COMPASS (the non-cop crisis 
respond team) about a week ago. This was on a Friday night during which he spent the whole 
eight hours with the officers.  It was just a very impressive operation including the several times 
when they were working in tandem with the Department’s officers.  The best thing in talking to 
the officers was they clearly really appreciated what the COMPASS folks were bringing to the 
table.  There was no sense of like rivalry or who is stepping on whose turf.  It was very 
collaborative.  In some instances, if the police were involved, it would have taken longer.  
These folks were able to get folks to some type of shelter to take a shower.  They stood there 
and listened to a man speak for two hours over at Columbus House.  It was fascinating.  The 
folks at COMPASS were really patient with him.  It was extraordinary.  The respect these folks 
have for the Department’s officers was important to him at least to see that.  Folks had concerns 
before this got started.  The good news is that it seems like everybody is on the same page. 
 Commissioner Lawlor indicated that he had mentioned these a few weeks ago that he was 
also with one the Department’s officers which was also impressive.  
 Chief Jacobson thanked Commissioner Lawlor for saying that because one of the concerns 
was the buy-in by the Department’s officers.  The chiefs did this the right way.  Officers were 
told this would help them and not take away their jobs.  These people have a skill set whereby 
they can communicate with the homeless, for example, that officers do not have the time to do 
given the limited resources.  Ninety percent of the referrals come from the Department.   
 Commissioner Ribeiro added that if any of the commissioners wish to experience what 
Commissioner Lawlor had described, she was sure it could be arranged.  
 
 



~  ~ 
 

6 

INTERNAL AFFAIRS REPORT 
Lieutenant Jessie Agosto 
 
 Lieutenant Agosto indicated there were three case closures this month. 
 
 Case No:  24C-019 - The complainant was LaJuana Hunt-Anderson.  The complaint was 
against Officer Giovanni.  It came in on February 10th, 2024.  Ms. Anderson indicated that she 
called officers regarding a threatening/breach complaint over parking in someone’s driveway. 
She claimed that the tenant told her that if she continued to park there, that she would get her 
gun.  She complained that she felt Officer Giovanni did not take her complaint seriously.  She 
felt she didn’t charge the offender for the appropriate charges.  This made her feel unheard.  
Officer Giovanni’s body-worn camera footage and report were reviewed.  She did make an 
arrest for charges she was able to establish probable cause for.  There was never a firearm 
located.  She does listen to the complainant and does what she needed to do to investigate. 
We found Ms. Anderson’s complaint to be unfounded. 
 
 Case No.:  24C-025 - The complainant was Jonna Vecchione.  It was against former Officer 
Frank Kaminski.  This case came in on March 16th of 2024.  Ms. Vecchione claimed that she 
was pulled over by Officer Kaminski and he almost hit her while pulling her over.  He began 
yelling at her and was very unprofessional.  And she claimed that this caused her emotional 
trauma.  Officer Kiminski’s body-worn camera and dash cam footages were reviewed.  They 
showed that Ms. Vecchione failed to stop at a red traffic control signal.  Officer Kaminski 
attempted to conduct a motor vehicle stop.  However, Ms. Vecchione continued without 
stopping.  A short time later, Officer Kaminski was able to pull up along side of her and 
instructed her to pull over.  And he subsequently gave her ticket for the violation.  It did not 
show that he ever was close to hitting her, and he did not yell or scream at her.  So we found 
that, although, he did conduct the traffic stop, it was lawful and within his right.  He was found 
to be exonerated. 
 
 Commissioner Ribeiro asked if Officer Kaminski left or resigned. 
 Lieutenant Agosto indicated that Officer Kaminski left shortly after this incident. 
 Commissioner Brooks asked why Officer Kaminski retired.  He wondered if this case kind of 
pushed him out the door. 
 Lieutenant Agosto indicated that she did not believe this case had anything to do with Officer 
Kaminski leaving the Department.  She thought he went to another agency. 
 Chief Jacobson indicated that Officer Kaminski went to the Dallas P.D.  He did not retire. 
 Commissioner Lawlor asked if an IA was pending when Officer Kaminski left. 
 Assistant Chief Bhagtana indicated that he left in May. 
 Lieutenant Agosto stated that if Officer Kaminski left in May, this case was still open. 
 Commissioner Lawlor said that, for what it’s worth, he would have been ineligible to be a 
police officer anywhere in Connecticut because he left while there was an open investigation. 
 Chief Jacobson added that they would have to look into this because Officer Kaminski is one 
of the officers who contacted the Department about returning. 
 Commissioner Lawlor added that it was a problem. 
 Commissioner Brooks asked, given the fact that he was exonerated and there was no merit to 
this complaint, would this still preclude him from being able to be hired in the State of  



~  ~ 
 

7 

Connecticut. 
 Commissioner Lawlor responded by saying, “that’s what the statute says.” 
 Chief Jacobson said they would have to contact POST. 
 Commissioner Lawlor indicated that the law applies to him, but he was of the belief that 
POST could lift that restriction. 
 Commissioner Meares added that it was appropriate to jump through hoops.  This is why we 
have processes.  Even if an officer is ultimately exonerate, there is a reason why we have a rule 
that says that you cannot hire somebody under IA and investigation.  You don’t want people 
engaging in loopholing behavior.   
 
 Case No.:  24C-051 - The complainant was Asia Shakespeare.  This complaint was against 
Officer McLawrence, and not Officer Lopez.  So she claimed in her civilian complaint that 
someone had told lies against her which led to her arrest.  And this was not the first time. 
She wanted someone held accountable.  They reviewed the report and body-worn camera 
footage for Officer McLawrence.  They were able to see that Officer McLawrence spoke with 
the original complainant who stated that Ms. Shakespeare was sending threatening, harassing 
text messages and phone calls.  We have body-worn camera footages which showed that 
Officer McLawrence reached out to Ms. Shakespeare.  And she does admit that she did commit 
the offences that she was accused of.  Officer McLawrence took all that information.  And 
based on the probable cause he’s able to gather, he obtained an arrest warrant which led to her 
arrest.  So her complaint was determined to be unfounded.   
 
 Commissioner Ribeiro asked about the cayote incident. 
 Lieutenant Agosto indicated she could get the information for Commissioner Ribeiro. 
 Commissioner Ribeiro indicated there were still open cases from 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 
2024 also.  She asked if there was a plan in place to close these overdue cases. 
 Assistant Chief Bhagtana responded by saying she was of the belief they had closed about 
81 cases so far this year including cases from  2022, 2023 and 2024.  She asked Lieutenant 
Agosto if this was right. 
 Lieutenant Agosto responded by saying, yes, they were working diligently to close these 
cases out as quickly as possible.  Unfortunately, there has been an uptick in complaints as well. 
 Commissioner Meares asked whether this meant closing out the oldest cases. 
 Commissioner Ribeiro stated that the Department does not want the new ones getting too old 
and the older cases getting older. 
 Lieutenant Agosto reported that there’s been a slowdown due to the loss of one sergeant and 
one investigator was out on maternity leave presently.  The focus is on the older cases. 
 Commissioner Ribeiro stated that these would be in conjunction with the Civilian Review 
Board also. 
 Commissioner Meares asked what it mean to say “in conjunction with the Civilian Review 
Board.” 
 Chief Jacobson explained that when a close is closed, the Department has to give the Civilian 
Review Board time to review it and make their own recommendations before discipline. 
 
PERSONNEL MATTERS 
 



~  ~ 
 

8 

1. Discussion and action on the recommendation of Chief Karl Jacobson to hire the 
following candidates from Eligibility List 22-68CR:  
 
A. #4 Luzciri Plata-Sanchez 
B. #13 Kelvin Mitchell Jr. 
C. #16 Shelian Velazquez 
D. #17 Lance Reinhardt 

 
 

 Chief Jacobson indicated the following individuals had been through the process:  #4 Luzciri 
Plata-Sanchez; #13 Kelvin Mitchell Jr.; #16 Shelian Velazquez; and #17 Lance Reinhardt 
 
** Commissioner Lawlor motioned to Approve the Chief’s Recommendation to Hire  
 the following Four Candidates, many of whom they had interviewed, #4 Luzciri Plata- 

Sanchez; #13 Kelvin Mitchell Jr.; #16 Shelian Velazquez; and #17 Lance Reinhardt 
** Commissioner Brooks seconded  
** Motion passed unanimously 
 
 All four new hires were congratulated.  
 

2. Discussion and action on the recommendation of Chief Karl Jacobson that the following 
candidates from the Civil Service Eligibility List #24-24 (Police Sergeant) be promoted: 

 
A. #9 Officer Brandon Cain 
B. #10 Officer Karl Rindfleisch 
C. #11 Officer Maurice Randall 
D. #12 Detective Vincent DeLeo 
E. #13 Officer Jeffrey Rivellini 

 
 Chief Jacobson indicated this was a recommendation from him to promote the following 
candidates from the Civil Service Eligibility List 24-24 for Police Sergeant:  #9 Officer 
Brandon Cain; #10 Officer Karl Rindfleisch; #11 Officer Maurice Randall; #12 Detective 
Vincent DeLeo; and #13 Officer Jeffrey Rivellini 
 
** Commissioner Brooks motioned to Accept the Recommendation of Chief Karl Jacobson  

for the Promotion of the following individuals for Sergeant on the Civil Service  
Eligibility List, #24-24:  #9 Officer Brandon Cain; #10 Officer Karl Rindfleisch; #11  
Officer Maurice Randall; #12 Detective Vincent DeLeo; and #13 Officer Jeffrey 
Rivellini 

** Commissioner Miranda seconded  
** Motion passed unanimously 
 
All the newly promoted officers to the Rank of Sergeant were congratulated. 
 
RETIREMENTS (For Board information only) 
There were none. 



~  ~ 
 

9 

RESIGNATIONS (For Board information only) 
Officer Kyle Cogliati, eff., October 1, 2024 
 
 Commissioner Walker requested that for resignations, the Board would like to see how long 
the individual had served for. 
 Commissioner Meares indicated his name sounded familiar. 
 Chief Jacobson indicated that he had been with the Department for about two years. 
 Commissioner Ribeiro indicated he joined in December 1st, 2022.  So less than two years. 
 Chief Jacobson indicated that he was going to the West Hartford Police Department.  They 
pay about $110,000.   
 
RECRUITMENT/SELECTION COMMITTEE 
Seargeant Paul Finch 
 
 Sergeant Finch reported that they have been constantly busy with recruitment.  On October 8, 
2024, they visited Central Connecticut State University.  The previous week, they were at 
Roger Williams University.  They have been relentlessly trying to recruit at different criminal 
justice programs throughout the state and surrounding states.  
 There is a growing interest for our young people to do public service.  For a while they were 
experiencing more people wanting to go the federal route.  However, they are now seeing that 
the younger folks are looking to do local law enforcement again which he was happy about 
because for a while they were not seeing much it. 
 With the new contract coming soon, that would better support their efforts moving forward 
as far as recruiting and retaining folks. 
 The written examination was scheduled for November 6, 2024. The oral interviews have 
been scheduled for November 14 and November 15, 2024.  They are looking to do another 
round of testing next month.  So if anyone interested and prepared to take their Chip Test, 
written and oral, it would be happening in under a month.  We test quarterly.  If anyone is not 
ready now, but has an interest, inform them testing will take place quarterly. 
 Commissioner Brooks congratulated the chief and his entire staff, Sergeant Finch and his 
team.  They have interviewed some great candidates from the eligibility list.  They were fine, 
young people that he thought would be real assets to the Department.  He just wanted to say 
congratulations to a job well done to the recruitment team and to the Chief’s Office. 
 Commissioner Ribeiro indicated she had seen some videos on social media and she likes the 
whole gamut.  She also congratulated Sergeant Finch  
 
EFFICIENCY COMMITTEE  
 
Consideration and vote on proposed General Order 8.12 Search and Seizure 
 
 Commissioner Ribeiro indicated this line item was tabled last month. 
 
** Commissioner Meares motioned to Remove the General Order 8.12 from the Table  
** Commissioner Lawlor seconded  
** Motion passed unanimously 
 



~  ~ 
 

10 

 Commissioner Meares indicated that they met discussed every paragraph of the General 
Order in depth.  Commissioners Lawlor, Ribeiro and Meares as well as Lieutenant Agosto,  
AC Bhagtana and AC Ettienne were in attendance.  They addressed all of the questions that 
came up during the last meeting in particular about the definition of “reasonable articulable 
suspicion” which is completely revised on best practices and federal practices and also is 
grounded in Connecticut law as well as according to our consultation with the AC Ettienne.  A 
really strong foundation for training officers in how to apply “reasonable articulable suspicion” 
and create readable reports which are important for police work.  In addition, they ensured that 
those definitions were consistent throughout the entire policy.  Also they addressed, according 
to the professionals in the room, how these policies actually work on the ground.  They 
addressed some issues that are potentially thorny that patrol officers face on the streets in 
applying these polices in the real world.  They came up with workable solutions.  All in all, 
they are very happy with the outcome. 
 Commissioner Meares further reported that she had a discussion with General Counsel’s 
office and that they are happy with the changes that were made.  
 Commissioner Lawlor stated that one of the things confusing especially for a line officer is 
when the individual sees slightly different definitions for the same thing, he could understand 
how that came about.  You know, different provisions being added at different points in time. 
You know, kind of like probable cause has a very specific definition so does “reasonable 
articulable suspicion.”  And these are the two keys, for those who are not obsessed with the law 
like Commissioner Meares and himself.  These are the two keys to the Fourth Amendment 
protections that everyone enjoys.  We are talking about an arrest versus an investigative stop.  
Things should then go smoothly especially from the point of view of a line officer who is trying 
to figure out which definition is applicable.  Aside from it being less confusing to the officer, if 
this goes to court, there won’t be a problem. 
 Commissioner Meares added that they had provided a very solid foundation for training.  
They are not just spinning back constitutional law.  There are actually much more specific 
guidance to help officers on the streets as well as the people who are training them. 
 Chief Jacobson indicated that the changes are good and everyone will be on the same page. 
 Commissioner Ribeiro thanked the committee and staff for coming to the table to collaborate 
and reaching a clear consensus regarding this General Order. 
 
** Commissioner Meares moved to Approve General Order 8.12 on Search and Seizure 
** Commissioner Lawlor seconded  
 
Commissioner Ribeiro indicated that it should be noted on the top that it is a special General 
Order. 
Assistant Chief Bhagtana indicated they would put it in the back. 
 
** Motion passed unanimously 
 
 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 
Assistant Chief Bhagtana 
 



~  ~ 
 

11 

 Assistant Chief Bhagtana reported that more promotional exams are coming up.  The 
Detectives’ Test will take place the third week of November.  After that, they will prepare to 
give the Lieutenants’ Test sometime in early 2025.   
 As far as the academy class, they have four recruits that graduated from POST last 
Wednesday, October 2nd, 2024.  There are six currently in New Britain.  Their graduation will 
be in early November.  Once they have the dates, they will share it with the Board. 
 There are eight recruits in the New Haven Police Academy.  The next academy is the 
Hartford Academy where the people approved tonight would be going.  
 The Department also reserved seats at POST which starts in January of 2025.  It’s a 
commuter academy.  We also reserved seats at the POST, April, 2025, academy.  The hope is 
that people that take the exam in November, they would be able to get them seated successfully, 
with your approval, into one of the academies. 
 Chief Jacobson already mentioned the vehicles.  Two Doge Durangos were rolled out this 
week to Patrol.   
 The animal shelter now has the new Municipal Animal Control Officer that began last week. 
She is working out really well. 
 Three records clerks were hired.  One of the senior records clerk resigned on September 20th, 
2024. 
The Department is looking to hire six more records clerk.  
 They are working on some other special grants as well. 
 Commissioner Ribeiro asked how many vacancies there were for records clerk. 
 Assistant Chief Bhagtana indicated she did not know.  They had about 14 or 15 vacancies 
last year.  She can get the numbers for Commissioner Ribeiro. 
 Commissioner Lawlor stated that Assistant Chief Bhagtana had spoken about spots to be 
taken up by recruits in the future.  He asked, if she added all of them together, what would the 
number be.  Commissioner Lawlor said he was asking about the January, 2025 class. 
 Assistant Chief Bhagtana  replied by saying 27 recruits. 
 Commissioner Lawlor indicated there is usually a small attrition rate there so maybe 23, 24, 
24 recruits at the end of the day. 
 Assistant Chief Bhagtana replied by saying about 25.  They would probably lose some. 
 Chief Jacobson stated that the hope is that with the new contract, the Department could have 
its own class of 30 recruits in its academy in March or April of 2025 as it easier to have them 
all train in-house rather than have them travel all over the state because the Department’s 
trainers have to assist with all these classes as well. 
 Commissioner Lawlor asked about the capacity of the Department’s classes? 
 Chief Jacobson replied, 30.  He went on to add that the current class the Department has is 
comprised of the Department’s eight recruits and 12 recruits from other agencies. 
 Commissioner Ribeiro indicated that the Department should keep an eye on overtime. 
 Chief Jacobson replied sure. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
None.  
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION  
None. 
 



~  ~ 
 

12 

ADJOURNMENT  
 
** Commissioner Lawlor motioned to Adjourn the Regular Meeting 
** Commissioner Meares seconded 
** Motion passed unanimously  
 
The next regular meeting will be on November 12, 2024.  
The Board adjourned at 7:12 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Sotonye Otunba-Payne 


	REGULAR SESSION MINUTES
	OCTOBER 8, 2024
	BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS
	AND THE TRAFFIC AUTHORITY
	Chief Karl Jacobson (in person):  Department of Police Service
	Assistant Chief Manmeet Bhagtana (in person):  Department of Police Service
	Assistant Chief Bertram Ettienne (in person):  Department of Police Service
	Lieutenant Jessie Agosto:  Department of Police Service
	Sergeant Yelena Borisova:  Department of Police Service
	Sergeant Paul Finch:  Department of Police Service
	Detective Vincent DeLeo:  Department of Police Service
	Officer Brandon Cain:  Department of Police Service
	Officer D. Cohen:  Department of Police Service
	Officer Reginald McGlotten:  Department of Police Service
	Officer Maurice Randall:  Department of Police Service
	Officer Karl Rindfleisch:  Department of Police Service
	Officer Jeffrey Rivellini:  Department of Police Service
	Asia Johnson-Clark:  Administrative Assistant
	Daniel Hunt
	Kelvin Mitchell Jr.
	Miguel Pittman Sr.
	Luzciri Plata-Sanchez
	Lance Reinhardt
	Shelian Velazquez
	Red
	The Traffic Authority meeting was called to order at 6:03 p.m. by Commissioner Evelise Ribeiro, Chair.
	*Commissioner Ribeiro stated that the following commissioners were present:  Commissioner Ribeiro, Commissioner Lawlor, Commissioner Meares, Commissioner Miranda, Commissioner Brooks and Commissioner Walker.
	*Following the regular meeting of the Traffic Authority, Mr. Fischer excused himself at
	OPEN SESSION
	The Regular Session meeting of the Board of Police Commissioners was called to order at 6:22 p.m., Evelise Ribeiro, Chair, presiding.
	AGENDA
	** Commissioner Lawlor moved to Approve the Agenda
	** Commissioner Walker seconded the motion
	** Motion passed unanimously
	DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES
	Discussion and approval of the Regular Session Minutes of September 10, 2024
	Discussion and approval of the Special Session Minutes of September 24, 2024
	** Commissioner Lawlor motioned to Approve the Regular Meeting Minutes of September
	10, 2024
	** Commissioner Brooks seconded
	( Commissioner Ribeiro made corrections on pages 10 and 11.
	** Motion passed unanimously
	** Commissioner Miranda motioned to Approve the Special Meeting Minutes of
	September 24, 2024
	** Commissioner Brooks seconded
	( Commissioner Ribeiro made a correction on page 1.
	** Motion passed unanimously
	Lieutenant Jessie Agosto
	( Lieutenant Agosto indicated there were three case closures this month.
	( Case No:  24C-019 - The complainant was LaJuana Hunt-Anderson.  The complaint was against Officer Giovanni.  It came in on February 10th, 2024.  Ms. Anderson indicated that she called officers regarding a threatening/breach complaint over parking in...
	She claimed that the tenant told her that if she continued to park there, that she would get her gun.  She complained that she felt Officer Giovanni did not take her complaint seriously.  She felt she didn’t charge the offender for the appropriate cha...
	Officer Giovanni’s body-worn camera footage and report were reviewed.  She did make an arrest for charges she was able to establish probable cause for.  There was never a firearm located.  She does listen to the complainant and does what she needed to...
	We found Ms. Anderson’s complaint to be unfounded.
	( Case No.:  24C-025 - The complainant was Jonna Vecchione.  It was against former Officer Frank Kaminski.  This case came in on March 16th of 2024.  Ms. Vecchione claimed that she was pulled over by Officer Kaminski and he almost hit her while pullin...
	( Commissioner Ribeiro asked if Officer Kaminski left or resigned.
	( Lieutenant Agosto indicated that Officer Kaminski left shortly after this incident.
	( Commissioner Brooks asked why Officer Kaminski retired.  He wondered if this case kind of pushed him out the door.
	( Lieutenant Agosto indicated that she did not believe this case had anything to do with Officer Kaminski leaving the Department.  She thought he went to another agency.
	( Chief Jacobson indicated that Officer Kaminski went to the Dallas P.D.  He did not retire.
	( Commissioner Lawlor asked if an IA was pending when Officer Kaminski left.
	( Assistant Chief Bhagtana indicated that he left in May.
	( Lieutenant Agosto stated that if Officer Kaminski left in May, this case was still open.
	( Commissioner Lawlor said that, for what it’s worth, he would have been ineligible to be a police officer anywhere in Connecticut because he left while there was an open investigation.
	( Chief Jacobson added that they would have to look into this because Officer Kaminski is one of the officers who contacted the Department about returning.
	( Commissioner Lawlor added that it was a problem.
	( Commissioner Brooks asked, given the fact that he was exonerated and there was no merit to this complaint, would this still preclude him from being able to be hired in the State of
	Connecticut.
	( Commissioner Lawlor responded by saying, “that’s what the statute says.”
	( Chief Jacobson said they would have to contact POST.
	( Commissioner Lawlor indicated that the law applies to him, but he was of the belief that POST could lift that restriction.
	( Commissioner Meares added that it was appropriate to jump through hoops.  This is why we have processes.  Even if an officer is ultimately exonerate, there is a reason why we have a rule that says that you cannot hire somebody under IA and investiga...
	( Case No.:  24C-051 - The complainant was Asia Shakespeare.  This complaint was against Officer McLawrence, and not Officer Lopez.  So she claimed in her civilian complaint that someone had told lies against her which led to her arrest.  And this was...
	She wanted someone held accountable.  They reviewed the report and body-worn camera footage for Officer McLawrence.  They were able to see that Officer McLawrence spoke with the original complainant who stated that Ms. Shakespeare was sending threaten...
	( Commissioner Ribeiro asked about the cayote incident.
	( Lieutenant Agosto indicated she could get the information for Commissioner Ribeiro.
	( Commissioner Ribeiro indicated there were still open cases from 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 2024 also.  She asked if there was a plan in place to close these overdue cases.
	( Assistant Chief Bhagtana responded by saying she was of the belief they had closed about
	81 cases so far this year including cases from  2022, 2023 and 2024.  She asked Lieutenant Agosto if this was right.
	( Lieutenant Agosto responded by saying, yes, they were working diligently to close these cases out as quickly as possible.  Unfortunately, there has been an uptick in complaints as well.
	( Commissioner Meares asked whether this meant closing out the oldest cases.
	( Commissioner Ribeiro stated that the Department does not want the new ones getting too old and the older cases getting older.
	( Lieutenant Agosto reported that there’s been a slowdown due to the loss of one sergeant and one investigator was out on maternity leave presently.  The focus is on the older cases.
	( Commissioner Ribeiro stated that these would be in conjunction with the Civilian Review Board also.
	( Commissioner Meares asked what it mean to say “in conjunction with the Civilian Review Board.”
	( Chief Jacobson explained that when a close is closed, the Department has to give the Civilian Review Board time to review it and make their own recommendations before discipline.
	1. Discussion and action on the recommendation of Chief Karl Jacobson to hire the following candidates from Eligibility List 22-68CR:
	A. #4 Luzciri Plata-Sanchez
	B. #13 Kelvin Mitchell Jr.
	C. #16 Shelian Velazquez
	D. #17 Lance Reinhardt
	( Chief Jacobson indicated the following individuals had been through the process:  #4 Luzciri Plata-Sanchez; #13 Kelvin Mitchell Jr.; #16 Shelian Velazquez; and #17 Lance Reinhardt
	** Commissioner Lawlor motioned to Approve the Chief’s Recommendation to Hire
	the following Four Candidates, many of whom they had interviewed, #4 Luzciri Plata-
	Sanchez; #13 Kelvin Mitchell Jr.; #16 Shelian Velazquez; and #17 Lance Reinhardt
	** Commissioner Brooks seconded
	** Motion passed unanimously
	( All four new hires were congratulated.
	2. Discussion and action on the recommendation of Chief Karl Jacobson that the following candidates from the Civil Service Eligibility List #24-24 (Police Sergeant) be promoted:
	A. #9 Officer Brandon Cain
	B. #10 Officer Karl Rindfleisch
	C. #11 Officer Maurice Randall
	D. #12 Detective Vincent DeLeo
	E. #13 Officer Jeffrey Rivellini
	( Chief Jacobson indicated this was a recommendation from him to promote the following candidates from the Civil Service Eligibility List 24-24 for Police Sergeant:  #9 Officer Brandon Cain; #10 Officer Karl Rindfleisch; #11 Officer Maurice Randall; #...
	** Commissioner Brooks motioned to Accept the Recommendation of Chief Karl Jacobson
	for the Promotion of the following individuals for Sergeant on the Civil Service
	Eligibility List, #24-24:  #9 Officer Brandon Cain; #10 Officer Karl Rindfleisch; #11
	Officer Maurice Randall; #12 Detective Vincent DeLeo; and #13 Officer Jeffrey Rivellini
	** Commissioner Miranda seconded
	** Motion passed unanimously
	(All the newly promoted officers to the Rank of Sergeant were congratulated.
	RETIREMENTS (For Board information only)
	There were none.
	RESIGNATIONS (For Board information only)
	Officer Kyle Cogliati, eff., October 1, 2024
	( Commissioner Walker requested that for resignations, the Board would like to see how long the individual had served for.
	( Commissioner Meares indicated his name sounded familiar.
	( Chief Jacobson indicated that he had been with the Department for about two years.
	( Commissioner Ribeiro indicated he joined in December 1st, 2022.  So less than two years.
	( Chief Jacobson indicated that he was going to the West Hartford Police Department.  They pay about $110,000.
	** Commissioner Meares motioned to Remove the General Order 8.12 from the Table
	** Commissioner Lawlor seconded
	** Motion passed unanimously
	( Commissioner Meares indicated that they met discussed every paragraph of the General Order in depth.  Commissioners Lawlor, Ribeiro and Meares as well as Lieutenant Agosto,
	AC Bhagtana and AC Ettienne were in attendance.  They addressed all of the questions that came up during the last meeting in particular about the definition of “reasonable articulable suspicion” which is completely revised on best practices and federa...
	those definitions were consistent throughout the entire policy.  Also they addressed, according to the professionals in the room, how these policies actually work on the ground.  They addressed some issues that are potentially thorny that patrol offic...
	( Commissioner Meares further reported that she had a discussion with General Counsel’s office and that they are happy with the changes that were made.
	( Commissioner Lawlor stated that one of the things confusing especially for a line officer is when the individual sees slightly different definitions for the same thing, he could understand how that came about.  You know, different provisions being a...
	You know, kind of like probable cause has a very specific definition so does “reasonable articulable suspicion.”  And these are the two keys, for those who are not obsessed with the law like Commissioner Meares and himself.  These are the two keys to ...
	Things should then go smoothly especially from the point of view of a line officer who is trying to figure out which definition is applicable.  Aside from it being less confusing to the officer, if this goes to court, there won’t be a problem.
	( Commissioner Meares added that they had provided a very solid foundation for training.  They are not just spinning back constitutional law.  There are actually much more specific guidance to help officers on the streets as well as the people who are...
	( Chief Jacobson indicated that the changes are good and everyone will be on the same page.
	( Commissioner Ribeiro thanked the committee and staff for coming to the table to collaborate and reaching a clear consensus regarding this General Order.
	** Commissioner Meares moved to Approve General Order 8.12 on Search and Seizure
	** Commissioner Lawlor seconded
	(Commissioner Ribeiro indicated that it should be noted on the top that it is a special General Order.
	(Assistant Chief Bhagtana indicated they would put it in the back.
	** Motion passed unanimously
	FINANCE COMMITTEE
	Assistant Chief Bhagtana
	( Assistant Chief Bhagtana reported that more promotional exams are coming up.  The Detectives’ Test will take place the third week of November.  After that, they will prepare to give the Lieutenants’ Test sometime in early 2025.
	( As far as the academy class, they have four recruits that graduated from POST last Wednesday, October 2nd, 2024.  There are six currently in New Britain.  Their graduation will be in early November.  Once they have the dates, they will share it with...
	( There are eight recruits in the New Haven Police Academy.  The next academy is the Hartford Academy where the people approved tonight would be going.
	( The Department also reserved seats at POST which starts in January of 2025.  It’s a commuter academy.  We also reserved seats at the POST, April, 2025, academy.  The hope is that people that take the exam in November, they would be able to get them ...
	( Chief Jacobson already mentioned the vehicles.  Two Doge Durangos were rolled out this week to Patrol.
	( The animal shelter now has the new Municipal Animal Control Officer that began last week.
	She is working out really well.
	( Three records clerks were hired.  One of the senior records clerk resigned on September 20th, 2024.
	The Department is looking to hire six more records clerk.
	( They are working on some other special grants as well.
	( Commissioner Ribeiro asked how many vacancies there were for records clerk.
	( Assistant Chief Bhagtana indicated she did not know.  They had about 14 or 15 vacancies last year.  She can get the numbers for Commissioner Ribeiro.
	( Commissioner Lawlor stated that Assistant Chief Bhagtana had spoken about spots to be taken up by recruits in the future.  He asked, if she added all of them together, what would the number be.  Commissioner Lawlor said he was asking about the Janua...
	( Assistant Chief Bhagtana  replied by saying 27 recruits.
	( Commissioner Lawlor indicated there is usually a small attrition rate there so maybe 23, 24, 24 recruits at the end of the day.
	( Assistant Chief Bhagtana replied by saying about 25.  They would probably lose some.
	( Chief Jacobson stated that the hope is that with the new contract, the Department could have its own class of 30 recruits in its academy in March or April of 2025 as it easier to have them all train in-house rather than have them travel all over the...
	( Commissioner Lawlor asked about the capacity of the Department’s classes?
	( Chief Jacobson replied, 30.  He went on to add that the current class the Department has is comprised of the Department’s eight recruits and 12 recruits from other agencies.
	( Commissioner Ribeiro indicated that the Department should keep an eye on overtime.
	( Chief Jacobson replied sure.
	OTHER BUSINESS
	None.
	EXECUTIVE SESSION
	None.
	ADJOURNMENT

